# 411

# Unganisha: An Assessment of Results and Effectiveness

Michael Graham 2422 Fairmile Road RR 4, Kemptville, ON KOG 1J0 (613) 258-2901

Evaluation Unit International Development Research Centre PO Box 8500, Ottawa, Ontario K1G 3H9

June 1999

# Acknowledgments

I want to thank all those people (see Appendix 1) who replied to the email survey and were generous with their time and ideas during the detailed interview process. Without their cooperation and interest, this study would have been impossible.

# Contents

Acknowledgments
Executive Summary
Introduction
Objectives and Methodology of Evaluation
Organization of Report
Results
Number Receiving Support
Types of Support
Quality and Relevance of Support
Need for Further Support
Future Priorities
Those Who Did Not Receive Support
Help Desks
ITrain Materials
Discussion       27         Unganisha's Reach and Effectiveness Within the Centre's Research Community       27         Unganisha's Reach and Effectiveness Within the Centre       28         ITrain Materials       31         Help Desks       32
Conclusions
Appendix 1: Contacts
Appendix 2: Email Questionnaires
Project Leaders
Program Staff
Help Desks
ITrain Users
Appendix 3. Interview Guides
Detailed
General
Appendix 4. Terms of Reference

Unganisha: Results and Effectiveness

# **Executive Summary**

Unganisha was funded as a project by IDRC to extend the Centre's connectivity to its projects and facilitate collaboration between projects, between IDRC program initiatives (PIs) and program officers, and between different groups within the Centre. This end-of-project evaluation was designed to determine the reach and effectiveness of Unganisha within both the Centre's research community and the Centre itself.

Opinions and feedback were collected using both email questionnaires and interviews from 29 project recipients, 42 Centre staff (interviews and questionnaires), 5 help-desk operators, and 19 users of ITrain materials.

#### Contributions

The Unganisha project has made important contributions to both IDRC and the recipients of Centre funds. For recipients, support was provided in the form of subsidies for Internet connections, technical advice, training, and assistance from help desks. Unganisha was highly valued by recipients because it responded appropriately to their needs, delivered support efficiently and effectively, and was a dependable source of informed advice and opinion on information and communication technologies. There is overwhelming support among recipients for continued help, not so much with connectivity, but to make better use of the facilities they now have.

Within IDRC, Unganisha has played a pioneering role with respect to the introduction of new methods and tools of communication such as the development of the Intranet, the testing and introduction of IPass roaming services, the facilitation of listservs, and the use of computer conferences. Centre staff appreciated the fact that Unganisha undertook experiments with regard to such things as smaller computers for use in the field and video conferencing for communication among PI members, and they believe that this type of experimentation should be continued.

#### Factors contributing to success

The location of Unganisha within the Programs Branch was crucial to the project's success. Because it was a project, Unganisha enjoyed the flexibility and funds necessary for both experimentation and innovation. As a result, Unganisha was able to purchase its own server and look into problems related to external access to email, work on the development of web-to-email services, experiment with video conferences, test the appropriateness of small computers for field use by IDRC staff, and purchase and test new software to determine if it might be useful to IDRC or its recipients. Although there was potential for conflict, the relationship between MIS and Unganisha has been positive. MIS retained its traditional support role, and Unganisha undertook research, which it could do because it had discretionary funds, and shared the results with MIS.

Unganisha staff were also an important reason for the success of the project. They combine technical expertise in Internet technologies with development experience, and are recognized for having listened to people's needs and suggested appropriate solutions, rather than simply pushing a specific technology or software solution.

#### **Ongoing needs**

Centre staff have come to look to Unganisha for technical advice on Internet technologies and the use of these technologies to promote improved communication and more collaborative working arrangements. Regional Office staff have more limited access to resources for advice and assistance and are unsure as how to best provide such advice to recipients. Although staff are prepared to include funds in projects for ICTs, they believe there remains a need for technical advice and training of the type provided by Unganisha. Staff also recognize that the Centre must remain at the forefront of thinking and practice about the use of ICTs for development. Unganisha has pushed some innovation within the Centre and has become "a focal point to reflect on issues and problems and an important part of the ferment of thinking in IDRC about ICTs and their use." IDRC staff believe it is important to find some way to retain both a source of technical advice and a focal point for debate within the Centre.

#### Other considerations

Unganisha could have been better publicized both within the Centre and to IDRC's project recipients. A relatively high number of program staff and project leaders know little about Unganisha or what types of assistance it might provide. Lack of promotion may also have limited the impact and effectiveness of the ITrain materials and the help desks.

The ITrain materials received praise, but to date they have had limited use in training programs. There was support for making these materials available in French and Spanish, and suggestions were made of other topics that should be the subject of future modules. However, before further investments are made, more research would be needed to determine if there is a real need, to understand how the materials have been used to date, and to determine if further revision is needed to make them more effective.

The concept of help desks is an example of Unganisha having the funds to experiment with an idea (in this case one proposed by AfricaLink). Although there have been some problems with the initial implementation, the idea of developing local resources that can provide assistance to project recipients was seen as an idea worth further consideration. Rather than focusing on connectivity it may be more useful for future efforts to be oriented to providing guidance and assistance on making decisions about how to use ICTs to solve specific problems encountered by recipients. The approach would be more to support "mini-Unganisha" resources that could help recipients solve specific problems, not simply provide technical connectivity advice.

#### **Future needs**

Most program staff, as well as recipients, have accepted electronic communication as a key element in effective program delivery. However, there remains a need to help people evolve their thinking with regard to the use of ICTs. This evolution is likely to go from the use of email, to dissemination and collection of information using the Internet, to collaborative group work. The introduction of email was considered a good entry point for promoting the IDRC philosophy of networking and knowledge sharing in current IDRC projects, but more work remains.

The demand for group work and the tools used for lists and conferences is likely to increase substantially in coming years. Centre staff expect that the use of lists and conferences will lead to

concerns about filtering of information and acceptable and appropriate behaviour in the use of listservs. They believe that IDRC must be prepared to make investments to work more effectively itself and provide appropriate advice to its research partners.

Centre staff suggested that future needs will arise with respect to the use of ICTs to connect researchers to their constituents and to more fully integrate these technologies into research methods. Unganisha was thought to be in a position to take leadership in such areas.

Unganisha: Results and Effectiveness

.

.

# Introduction

Unganisha is a Swahili word that means connectivity and also conveys a sense of unity. The two words connectivity and unity reflect the objectives of the Unganisha project, which was approved by the Board of Governors of IDRC in late 1996 and started on 1 March 1997. To realize its objectives, the project sought to both extend the network of the IDRC's connectivity to the projects it funds and to facilitate collaboration between geographically diverse projects, between IDRC program initiatives (PIs) and program officers, and between different groups within the Centre.

Unganisha worked with IDRC grant recipients by offering direct financial and technical support to get project teams connected to the Internet and by providing training in the use of information and communication technologies (ICTs) and in the publishing of documents on the World Wide Web.

The project also tried to improve the ability of both IDRC program officers and project leaders to communicate while in the field by offering technical advice and support to improve communication and information collection and dissemination among various organizations and institutions. Within IDRC, Unganisha helped PIs to use electronic mail, computer conferencing, and Web-based collection and dissemination of information. It also looked for ways to facilitate and promote information flow among all Centre staff who had access to electronic mail and information-based resources.

In conducting its affairs, Unganisha worked with various entities within IDRC. These groups included, but were not limited to:

- Management Information Systems (MIS) to ensure that the project's technical direction was complementary to MIS's strategic direction;
- Internet Working Group (IWG) to ensure that the project's development of Webbased information conformed with standards and practices developed by the IWG;
- Bellanet to ensure that the project's development of connectivity information around the world were complementary to efforts being made at Bellanet; and
- Acacia and Pan Asia to determine if small connectivity initiatives might be geared to their grant recipients.

The Unganisha project was designed to have a finite life and is scheduled to come to an end in mid-1999. Because the project was coming to an end, it was judged prudent to conduct an end of project review to determine what the project had accomplished and what impact it might have had on both IDRC and its project recipients.

### **Objectives and Methodology of Evaluation**

This evaluation had two objectives:

- to examine the effectiveness of the Unganisha project in meeting its objective of enhancing the electronic communication and networking capacity of Centresupported recipients and partner institutions in developing countries; and
- to examine the relevance of Unganisha within the Centre

To achieve these objectives, the evaluation was designed to determine the reach and effectiveness of Unganisha within both the Centre's research community and the Centre itself.

Separate questionnaires that could be administered by electronic mail were developed and pretested to obtain information from project leaders, IDRC program staff, help-desk providers, and users of ITrain materials. Modified questionnaires were sent as well to two external contacts (USAID-AfricaLink and SangoNet) to solicit their views.

Interview guides were developed and pretested to obtain information from IDRC staff (the occasion of the Open Program Meeting was used to interview Regional Office staff). In total, 19 interviews were conducted with Centre staff. The questionnaires and interview guides are provided in Appendix 2.

Questionnaires were sent electronically to a sample of IDRC project recipients and program staff. Before the questionnaires were sent, the Unganisha Project Officer sent a message to all of the people who were to be surveyed to advise them that they would be receiving a survey and encouraging them to take the time to reply. The questionnaires were translated into French and Spanish for the Project leaders, and into French for the IDRC staff and for the help-desk providers. Lists were compiled by Unganisha staff, who provided email addresses for those who were surveyed. These surveys were initially sent out 19 April, and replies were requested by 27 April. Problems were encountered with some of the email addresses, so email questionnaires were sent out over about a 7-day period as valid addresses became available. In addition, Unganisha staff sent surveys by facsimile to several IDRC project contacts who did not yet have email connections.

The questionnaire developed for the ITrain users was posted to appropriate mailing lists by Unganisha staff to solicit input (this questionnaire had a potential audience of several hundred to these mailing lists).

### **Organization of Report**

This report is divided into three parts. The **Results**, which provides the data collected in the study, the **Discussion**, which reviews the findings of the study in relation to its terms of reference, and the **Conclusions**, which summarizes the major conclusions of the evaluation and suggests areas that may require follow-up by the Centre. The **Appendices** to the report include a list of those people who provided input to the study, the questionnaires and interview guides used in the study, and terms of reference for the evaluation.

## Results

Table 1 presents information on the total number of questionnaires sent out and the number of responses received. The overall response rate was 32% to the questionnaire (57 replies to 180 questionnaires, excluding ITrain questionnaires). In total, 104 questionnaires were sent to project recipients and replies were received from 29 (28%). Program staff received 64 questionnaires and responses were received from 23 (36%). Five responses were received from the 12 questionnaires that were sent to Help Desk providers (42%).

Nineteen interviews were conducted with Centre staff. Included in the sample were senior IDRC management, staff working in Secretariats, program officers (based both in Ottawa and Regional Offices), members of the Advisory Committee on Information Management (ACIM), the Internet Working Group, and the Unganisha Advisory Panel, and other users of Unganisha services within the Centre. Two different interviews guides were used depending on the type of interaction Centre staff had had with Unganisha. A "detailed" guide was used for the seven program staff who had received direct assistance (either personally or for their projects); a "general" guide was used for the other twelve Centre staff who had less direct interactions (see Appendix 3).

### **Number Receiving Support**

Of the 29 project recipients who replied to the questionnaire, 15 said they had received support from Unganisha, 9 said they had not, and 1 reported that he did not know whether the project had received support from Unganisha. The number of "recipients" who reported that they had not received Unganisha support was quite high (35%) considering that the list of contacts was provided by Unganisha. It is not clear why this is the case; however, it is possible that they were unaware that any assistance they might have received from IDRC had come specifically from Unganisha.

	Language	Sent by email	Sent by fax	Rec'd by email	Rec'd by fax
Project Leaders	English	61	9	17	3
	French	34	4	5	_
	Spanish	9		4	_
Program Staff	English	49	_	21	
•	French	15		2	
Help Desk	English	7		3	
	French	5		2	_
ITrain	English	*		19	_

 Table 1.
 Distribution and responses to email questionnaires.

\* potential audience of several hundred on electronic lists.

Unganisha: Results and Effectiveness

	Subsidies	Technical Advice	Training	Help Desks	Services	Publications
Recipients*	12	6	4	3	3	0
IDRC	10	17	9	6	6	4
Total	22	23	13	9	9	4
IDRC (not applicable or don't know)	5	3	6	6	9	8

#### Table 2.Types of support received from Unganisha by recipients and IDRC.

\* 9 of 26 recipients said they had not received support from Unganisha.

Input from IDRC program staff on support received from Unganisha was obtained by both email and interviews. In total, twenty program staff reported that they had received support from Unganisha, 8 said they had not, and 2 did not know if they had. The services provided by Unganisha were used almost equally within IDRC and for Centre-supported projects.

### **Types of Support**

Table 2 shows the forms of support recipients and IDRC staff reported to have received from Unganisha. The responses from IDRC staff include assistance provided within IDRC as well as to Centre projects. Of the two most common forms of assistance, technical advice was used both within IDRC and projects; however, subsidies were more often provided directly for projects. In some cases, program staff thought there may have been some assistance, but they had no feedback from either the researchers or Unganisha.

#### **Subsidies**

Project recipients reported that subsidies were most often used to purchase and install equipment and software such as: computers (both workstations and servers), printers, scanners, modems, telephone lines, and browser software. As well, subsidies were used to pay for the costs associated with making connections to the local Internet service provider (ISP) and paying the monthly fee for connections. In one case, project support established a connection for a scientist at a distant research station. Other project staff reported more on how they were using the technology and how it was changing how they worked. They cited examples such as: enhanced connectivity among three NGOs in Uganda, Kenya, and Tanzania; improved communication with IDRC and other international organizations; and improved communication with other network members as well as the coordinating secretariat. These improved linkages were responsible for allowing network members to easily consult on issues, access research information, seek further information on technology, and better market their institution.

Program officers said that subsidies were used to provide initial access to ISPs to allow project staff to communicate easily with IDRC and with other network members and therefore be able to submit project reports and research papers as well as participate in discussions. After the initial hookups were established, program staff said that the institutions were expected to assume these costs on an on-going basis. One program officer reported that subsidies from Unganisha had allowed a network consisting of 15 nodes to become established in East Africa; another noted that a subsidy was used to experiment with electronic conferencing.

#### **Technical Advice**

Technical advice allowed recipients to: evaluate and select the most appropriate software for their needs; operate Internet and email communications; obtain local advice on which type of computer equipment to buy and where to get the best price; and create networks to share database information using email and the Internet. As a results, they felt they were better equipped to gather information, establish links with international agencies, and understand both the potential and limitations of Internet and email.

IDRC program staff sometimes have little feedback from projects on technical issues related to the use and implementation of information and communication technologies. Their main concern is that email works, because this makes communication with the project much easier. Advice from Unganisha was used both to help recipients and change IDRC's own operations.

Centre staff reported that their projects had received advice from Ungnaisha on: how to create websites, technical information about computers and modems, the types of server and workstation needed to establish a network, and information on the costs and problems likely to be encountered in establishing a network. This advice had allowed them to determine what was needed to bring project participants on-line and into international discussions with other network members; encourage project staff to use the technology in their routine operations; and establish a web-based archive for correspondence, which helped overcome difficulties encountered in sending files through email.

Internally, Unganisha's advice was credited with changing how staff work because it had tested and introduced IPass roaming services and also provided assistance to help staff setup and use this service properly.

Program staff noted the value this internal source of technical advice, which is provided by people who understand how IDRC works and have technical skills and work experience in developing countries. Program officers believe the Centre must retain the expertise necessary both to advise projects directly and to identify and hire local consultants to provide the needed advice. A Centre resource that understands both the technology and development issues, has connections to local expertise and services, and can stay current with evolving technologies is considered important by program staff.

### Training

Project recipients reported that Unganisha had helped staff learn to operate computer systems, to gather information, and to use email communication. As well, training (along with associated training materials) in webpage design has allowed recipients to create their own websites. One respondent reported that the training had shown him how to use email and that now he was able to

train other researchers. Another respondent said that he planned to use the training materials on the Unganisha website (ITrain publications) to develop training manuals for community use.

Within projects, program staff mentioned that training had been very useful both to provide specific instruction, but also "open people's eyes" to what was in fact possible with the new communication technologies. Specific examples of how Unganisha had helped included: arranging for the local ISP to provide training to project staff; paying the fee for the trainer and also the per diems of projects staff from an Africa-wide network to stay for a few more days following a project meeting to obtain Internet training; and testing and using ITrain materials for Internet training sessions. The training supported by Unganisha was said to have allowed groups of researchers to become involved in network communication, increased the use of the Internet for networking, lead to the creation of project websites, and improved email communication with IDRC and other network members. In one case, the training demonstrated how to organize connectivity within a network and with others outside the main network. Assistance in this case included both local help to get connected as well as provision of links to help desks that were being established. One program officer noted that an intern in his PI had received some very useful training from Unganisha.

#### Help Desks

Only two recipients provided additional comments on help desks. One person said that the help desk had been useful for on-going support and for trouble-shooting email problems; however, the other said that although they had access to this service, they had not used it because they were conversant with basic email and Internet use.

IDRC staff, in most cases, did not know much about help desks or that they even existed (in one case the program officer knew one existed but thought it was not yet up to speed). One program officer noted that help desks should be able to provide continuing support for problems that were not foreseen in training sessions.

#### Services

With regard to the services provided by Unganisha, one recipient noted that these services had facilitated the exchange of messages among colleagues, another noted that they could now identify useful websites, obtain relevant information, host a website, and participate in network discussions. These are very similar to the benefits attributed to technical advice, and suggest that recipients did not distinguish between the two. No mention was made specifically of the web-to-email server or the hosting of websites.

Program staff noted that Unganisha had hosted websites, helped with mailing lists, and provided web-to-email services. One program officer was very pleased with the direct assistance he had received from Unganisha to design and establish a website for his project. The site was originally hosted by Bellanet, but is now on the IDRC server and has been active since April. This site includes two bulletin board for input from users and captures the data that are entered using Cold Fusion software. Another program officer noted that he had received Unganisha's assistance to setup three separate listservs and has found these to be a very useful complement to ongoing network activities. In particular, they have been useful for getting input from donors, coordinating donor action, and trying to influence policy. IDRC staff also mentioned that Unganisha had helped coordinate

electronic conferences, which were reported to have worked well. Assistance from Unganisha included help with establishing the conferences as well as distribution of information on how to start and conduct conferences.

#### Publications

None of the project recipients indicated that publications had been a form of assistance they had received from Unganisha, although the Unganisha–Bellanet publication *From Workplace to Workspace* was specifically mentioned in the questionnaire. Two people did mention printed material in connection with training. *From Workplace to Workspace* was distributed in English, French, and Spanish.<sup>1</sup> In English, 1250 copies were published (190 sold and 657 distributed free); in French, 1000 copies were published (125 sold and 150 distributed free); and in Spanish 500 copies were published (16 sold and 167 distributed free). It is not clear why none of the recipients selected publications given this rather wide distribution. Perhaps they associated the book with IDRC rather than with Unganisha.

Only one program officer who replied to the email questionnaire specifically mentioned support in the form of publications. He cited the book *From Workplace to Workspace* as an excellent source of information on electronic mailing lists, and indicated that he planned to establish a mailing list using the books's guidelines. Although the level of knowledge of publications was a little higher among the staff who were interviewed, (most staff knew of *From Workplace to Workspace*), they had not used this book or the other ITrain materials. One program officer who had considerable dealings with Unganisha was not aware that Unganisha had produced publications or in fact that Unganisha even had a website.

#### **Other Services**

Under the category of "other," one recipient mentioned that assistance had been received to translate the institution's webpage. One IDRC program officer was pleased with a critical review of a project proposal he had received with regard to connectivity in his areas of program expertise. He valued the intellectual input he received as "extremely useful."

### **Quality and Relevance of Support**

Two approaches were taken to try to rate the "quality" of the support provided by Unganisha. IDRC staff were asked how well Unganisha had responded to their information and communication needs as well as those of their projects (Table 3). Project recipients were asked to rate the support they had received from Unganisha in terms of how well it had helped them access research information, disseminate research results, and collaborate and network with others (Table 4). The overall level of satisfaction with the support received was very high (average of 4.6 over all types of support received by both recipients and IDRC program staff).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Distribution figures provided courtesy of Beryl Scrivens, Distribution Manager, IDRC Books.

# Table 3.Program staff rating of how well support from Unganisha responded to the<br/>information and communication needs of them and their projects (based on a scale of<br/>1 to 5, with 1 representing "not well" and number 5 "very well").

	Technical advice	Subsidies	Training	Help desks	Publications	Services
Program Officers	4.4	4.5	_	5.0	4.0	5.0
Projects	4.7	4.8	4.5	4.3	5.0	5.0

# Table 4.Rating by project recipients of the support received from Unganisha (based on a scale<br/>of 1 to 5, with 1 representing "not well" and number 5 "very well").

Support provided to:	Average rating		
Access research information	4.2		
Disseminate research results	4.0		
Collaborate and network	4.8		

Recipients who reported that they had used the assistance to **access research information**, noted the increase in both the volume of material available to them and the new sources that they could now tap. These new information sources were used in ongoing research activities, for the writing of research papers, and to access research information from around the world.

Fewer examples were given of the use of Unganisha support to **disseminate research results**. Examples that were given included easier exchange and revision of research reports, increased use of email to disseminate information on ongoing research and the documents that were available (with the result that more students, individuals, and agencies were contacted and bought their publications), expedited communication of research findings (but still limited because not all colleagues had connectivity), improved ability to announce conferences on the Internet and through listservs, and the ability of projects to benefit from the resources available from other institutions in the network.

**Collaborative work** involved consultation with project advisors, discussions and exchanges among network members, and the contribution of information from each participating institution to the website (which was said to help each institution, as well as others outside the network, to know about the capabilities of each organization).

The IDRC project recipients were also asked whether the support they had received from Unganisha had been appropriate to their connectivity needs. Thirteen of the sixteen (81%) thought it was; the others were unsure. Nobody reported that the support had been inappropriate. IDRC staff noted that

their recipients had been able to gain Internet access and create websites. They also noted that the assistance had been provided in a timely way and that Unganisha staff had been very supportive and willing to work with recipients to find solutions that best addressed their needs.

#### **Positive and Negative Aspects**

Project recipients and program officers were given a chance to indicate what aspects of Unganisha had worked well and what required improvement. The overall feeling of project recipients was that the project had been positive. In addition to indicating that the establishment of physical connections and training in the use of email had worked well, the respondents pointed out that it was important that the project had been quick to respond appropriately to their needs and had been a very useful source of informed advice and opinion.

IDRC staff generally felt that almost all aspects of Unganisha had been positive. They credited the project for forcing people in IDRC to think in different terms about information and communication technologies and for helping to introduce new things to the Centre. Overall, there was a feeling that the Centre had recognized that connectivity was needed and Unganisha had taken the appropriate steps to make it "routine." Unganisha was seen as a catalyst that had speeded up this process and introduced the Intranet, IPass, listservs, and electronic conferences to the Centre. Initially, they suggested, these tools may be more important for IDRC than for the recipients, but they anticipate they will be increasing important to project staff as they become more familiar with how to use the tools they have recently acquired. In addition, the development of training materials and the experimentation with help desks were cited as positive contributions.

Program staff also praised Unganisha for its provision of equipment and the speed with which connections were established. Staff also reported that the training that had been supported by Unganisha had been very good and that they valued the technical input and advice they had received. As well, staff liked the high level of interaction that took place and the receptivity, availability, and understanding of the people working in the project. As an example of how this assistance had helped, one Program Officer pointed out that the links that had been established allowed a network member to make submissions to a publication that was being produced. The support received from Unganisha was described as "indispensable" to completing such work in collaboration with the project recipient.

The main negative comments related to the fact that more support was need for projects but could not be provided because of limited funds and people. In addition, it was suggested there may have been some imbalance in the attention given to some recipients. Others suggested that Unganisha should have been better at publicizing it efforts because some IDRC staff, as well as recipients, may not have been aware of the services that were available. Even some IDRC staff who used Unganisha were not aware of everything (such as the publications and help desks). Three program staff reported that they did not know enough about the Unganisha project to reply. Some staff suggested that more training should have been provided on how to access research information and to establish collaboration and contacts with other researchers.

Within MIS, there is a concern that MIS will inherit some things that may cause problems after the project is wound down. For example, the Unganisha server is running under Linux and this may

present future problems with licencing and upgrading because this is not part of IDRC standards. As well, MIS felt that perhaps it should have provided "more technical discipline" to some of the software and hardware choices made by Unganisha.

### **Need for Further Support**

All but one of the project recipients who received Unganisha assistance believe there remains a need for such support. Although a few suggested the need for continued subsidies for connections, most project recipients now see a need for help to make better use of the facilities they now have. They mentioned the need for continuing technical input and advice on technology and websites to improve what they now do and for constructive feedback on their efforts to date. Training was cited as important in such areas as how to access information, manage networks, produce publications and training materials, improve cooperation and communication with others, and manage electronic conferences.

Eighty percent of IDRC program staff who were contacted felt that there was a continuing need for the type of services provided by Unganisha. Some of the reasons given to continue support included the need to help recipients participate in discussions both with donors and other project members. It was also suggested that there remains a need in Africa to promote connectivity, train researchers, and systematically introduce new communication technologies into IDRC's way of working in Africa.

Centre staff have differing views about the need for additional support of the type offered by Unganisha. Some feel that Unganisha's first priority of "connectivity" is taking care of itself, others still think that there is a need for some assistance. It was suggested that perhaps Unganisha should summarize its experiences to date with respect to connectivity by preparing a set of materials that could be used by both program officers and project staff who are tackling the task of becoming connected.

IDRC program staff indicated broad support for the Centre continuing to stay current about technical developments in information and communications technologies and experimenting with and testing different tools that promote collaborative work.

### **Future Priorities**

Future Unganisha-type support was seen as "especially important" given the fact that IDRC is increasingly encouraging all of its projects to participate in networks. It was also suggested that the Centre as a whole needed to be prepared to work even more in a networking environment and to embrace more advanced uses of the Internet and Intranet. Opinions varied on how this "service" could be accommodated — through a strengthened ACIM, by continuing Unganisha in some way, or by contracting such services from Bellanet. However, there was agreement that this "unit" would function most effectively if it was located within the Programs Branch.

Project recipients and IDRC staff made several suggestions for future priorities. These have been grouped into: technical advice; reconnaissance; testing; internal communication; innovation; and marketing and promotion.

#### **Technical Advice**

There is a strong feeling among program staff that there remains a need to provide advice to projects and PIs on their ICT needs and how these tools can be properly integrated into program development from the start. It was suggested that the Centre continues to need a central location for current information on ICTs and advice on connectivity and the use of technology. As expressed by one staff member: "if anyone or anything I am dealing with needs connectivity, I now know where to go — Unganisha."

Centre staff believe this central location for program-related advice must be located in the Programs Branch because MIS staff have different priorities and lack the opportunity to travel or obtain developing country experience. This function as a "knowledge broker" or a "clearinghouse for information" and was generally supported by all staff who were interviewed. Program staff reported that they now depend on Unganisha for assistance with connectivity and how to use Internet technologies and are not sure how they will manage after the project ends.

#### Reconnaissance

To ensure that the Centre keeps itself well informed about advances in information and communication technologies, staff suggested the need for continuing reconnaissance both within the Regional Offices and in Ottawa to monitor technology, recipient needs, and opportunities to collaborate with other institutions and donors working in similar areas. Most program staff recognize that they do not have the background or knowledge needed to monitor developments in ICTs. One person summed up these feeling by suggesting that "IDRC needs a program officer for electronic connectivity."

Staff believe that networks are a priority (as a mechanism of information delivery and sharing). Therefore, IDRC must be on the forefront of these technologies to understand them and to advise its research partners on how they can be used. The introduction of ICTs (starting with email) provide an entry point to promote IDRC's philosophy of networking and sharing. Staff also pointed out that these inputs are sustainable because institutions grow to value the advantages they bring and continue to invest in them after the IDRC project ends.

#### Testing

IDRC staff place a high value on the testing of new hardware and software that was undertaken by Unganisha and recognize that this speeded the finding of practical solutions. In comparison to MIS, which focuses on infrastructure as its first priority, Unganisha was able to look forward and advocate change. This sentiment was expressed as: "it is important that the Centre retain an entity to provide a research and forward-looking function for staff."

Priorities for the future were suggested to relate to ensuring that the Centre maintains a mechanism for continued experimentation with new technologies as they apply to programs and projects and also to the conduct of business by the Centre itself. For example, staff suggested that there remains a need to help create local capacity to assist project recipients and it was recognized that the help desk idea might be a reasonable approach if further developed.

In particular, staff expect that as project staff obtain more experience with ICTs they will want to broaden their use of these tools from simple email to include experimenting with ways to disseminate research findings by using websites and stimulating greater dialogue through listservs and electronic conferences. To be in a position to promote such technologies, staff feel that IDRC needs to continue to be at the forefront in testing appropriate tools and techniques, and they believe Unganisha has filled this niche very well.

#### Internal Communication

Concerns were raised about how the Centre can make the Intranet work effectively. It is a priority for Centre management to ensure that Regional Office staff and Regional Directors become more directly involved in decision-making in the Centre. Further enhancement of the Intranet is considered one way to achieve this goal, and this is likely to become increasingly important as the Centre institutes the new 18-member program committee that was discussed at the recent open program meeting (OPM). Program staff are also looking for ways to improve dialogue among PIs and believe that Unganisha should continue to experiment with such mechanisms as video conferencing.

#### Innovation

Program staff also see a future role for Unganisha in exploring how ICTs can be used to connect researchers with their clients in the communities with which they are working. In essence, staff see that connectivity is only a start not an end. What is now required is continued innovation to improve how people communicate and interact — "the cultural stuff not hard technology stuff."

Program staff recognize that Unganisha has also led to innovation within the Centre (for example, IPass, Intranet, and trials of smaller computers for use by Centre staff). They believe this innovation must continue and are concerned about losing this resource within the Programs Branch.

#### Marketing and Promotion

More than one-third of the recipient who had received support from Unganisha reported that they were unaware of this fact. As well, several program officers were unaware of what services Unganisha provided, or were not aware of the full range of services. Although this does not diminish the impact that Unganisha has had, it does suggest that more information needs to be made available to both recipients and program staff. Some program officers found it hard to answer most questions in the questionnaire because they lacked specifics about the support provided. "I found the people in Unganisha excellent, but I do not have all the information (or in some cases any) about what Unganisha actually provided for my project. In a couple of cases I was copied in some of the correspondence, so I know. But I think they did a lot more than I am aware of." This suggests that more effort needs to be made to provide feedback on the support provided.

### Those Who Did Not Receive Support

The respondents who did not report using Unganisha services were asked why. No one reported that Unganisha was not relevant to their needs. However, three said they did not know what services Unganisha provided and two were unaware of Unganisha. One respondent stated that they already had enough knowledge and did not need Unganisha.

Of those who reported that they had not received support, a few offered explanations. In one case, the respondent reported meeting with Unganisha staff to discuss their needs and determined that Unganisha could not help them. However, this person reported that the linkages that were created with IDRC were useful and were being continued. Another respondent had just received the grant letter and therefore had not officially received support. In another case, delays within the institution had meant that physical connections were yet to be installed; therefore, potential collaboration with Unganisha was delayed. In one case, the respondent reported that he was unaware of the project, but wanted to obtain additional information on how his institution could benefit.

Program staff who reported that they had not used Unganisha services were asked why not. Two said the support was not relevant to their program needs, one said he did not know what services Unganisha provided, and one said she already had enough knowledge for her needs. Four others offered other explanations: lack of time to take advantage of the services; new to the Centre and it took some time to understand how Unganisha could have been useful; Unganisha was over committed early on, so he did not pursue; and finally one program officer reported that he would have liked to use Unganisha services but could not because they were limited to IDRC recipients and could only be used for old projects.

Asked if they had anything else to add, one program officer expressed his feeling that there had been little information available within IDRC about the project and that it should have been much more closely associated with the other information programs in the Centre. He also questioned whether it was possible to attribute increases in connectivity to Unganisha or to the general rise in connectivity (in Africa, for example). He did offer that a case could be made that Unganisha was a catalyst to some degree, but wondered at what cost to the Centre. Other comments suggested that Unganisha was a good initiative, but that it would have been better to have clearer terms of reference and updates on availability of services. Finally, one program person suggested that although his program did not use Unganisha directly, discussions with Unganisha staff had been valuable, as had the availability of some of its resources (such as the web-to-email server and selected publications).

### Help Desks

Five replies were received to the help-desk questionnaire. Four of the respondents reported that they had established a help desk with assistance from Unganisha, the fifth said the help desk was in place prior to the project.

Of the five help-desk respondents, all reported that they solved problems clients encountered, and three each responded that they monitored the status of the connectivity of their clients and provided training. Under the category of other types of assistance, one help-desk provider noted that he had installed new software, designed new network plans for LANs, and helped with project proposals. Another noted that often the problems were related to the telephone lines used to make the Internet connection.

#### Support provided

The help desk providers were also asked to indicate the areas in which their clients most often had problems. There was little difference in the reported frequency with which clients had difficulty. Problems related to encoding and decoding attachments were the most common, followed by hardware-related problems and difficulties in sending and receiving email. Making connections to the ISP and accessing information via the Internet were the least common.

#### **Overall success**

Asked to rate the success of the help desks on a scale of 1 to 5 with the number 1 representing "not successful" and 5 representing "very successful", the providers of these services rated them on average as 3.2. Asked what the biggest problem was with the help desks, responses ranged from none to the expression of a need for closer coordination and greater attention to contract issues and the need for more training of help desk operators. The operator who pointed to the need for more training noted that it is necessary to develop this expertise in-house because such skilled labour is hard to find. This operator also pointed out that he felt that the biggest weakness with the help desks was determining when the clients were having difficulty with their email.

Another respondent felt that help desks are not exhaustively used because once the ISP is chosen as a help desk, it might not be the same ISP the beneficiary is using. She also felt that the kind of service that the help desk was supposed to give was narrow and therefore most people might not use it. In her opinion, it would have been better if the help desk gave help on such issues as configuration of a mail server, administration of a Linux/NT server(s), and network security issues. She continued that this was a more challenging service, but that it would also help the researchers to have an indepth knowledge of connectivity issues and help them evaluate the best alternatives to various hardware and software issues. Her opinion was that the current set up of the help desk would achieve little in terms of integrating the new information technology with ongoing research and that therefore information technologies will remain foreign.

With regard to the biggest successes of help desks, respondents indicated client interactions. For example, they were able to respond quickly to problems and provide a place where clients could turn for technical support because often vendor support is almost non-existent. In addition, one help-desk operator suggested it was a good opportunity to help IDRC grantees better understand their needs and the usefulness of connectivity beyond basic email.

#### Need for further support

All five respondents suggested that help desks were still needed for IDRC project recipients, although one also responded that for most more routine things support should no longer be needed. Some of the expected needs related to continuing problems caused by computer crashes and the unreliability of local telecommunication systems. One of the help-desk operators took a broader view of long-term needs. He suggested that there is continuing need to provide advice and assistance related to new innovations in information and communication technologies. He went on to say that in his country (in Eastern Africa) the average IDRC grantee still has no real understanding of how to make effective use of these technologies in their work areas. To keep pace with new innovations, he felt that project recipients will require assistance beyond the challenges that remain with respect to sustained connectivity (such as bad telephone lines and choice of ISPs) and publishing on the web. He suggested that Unganisha still had a pivotal role to play in packaging training and other support materials such as the ITrain publications.

Asked if they had anything else to add, two of the operators suggested some areas for improvement. One of the suggestions related to the need to maintain ongoing dialogue with Unganisha. He felt that it was not enough to sign the contract and then only correspond whenever there was an "event." He also thought that the Unganisha help-desk listserv needed to be better moderated. Another help-desk provider noted the need to develop good relationships between the help desk and its clients. Once these relationships are established, and a degree of confidence is created, he suggested that clients would turn to the help desk whether the problem was related to hardware or software.

### **ITrain Materials**

In total, 19 people responded to the ITrain questionnaire. Of these, 16 reported that they had heard of the ITrain materials and methodology. However, of these 16, only 5 had used the materials for training purposes. Three of these people had used the materials for self-training as well as for training others; the other two had used the material in their training activities for others. Under "other" uses of the material, one user reported that within the network she was working with, the other partners had used pieces of the training manuals to put together training sessions on the Internet and web-page development. She reported that the participants appreciated the fact that the materials were available for free.

#### Usefulness

Those that had used the materials for training were asked to rate their usefulness on a scale of 1 to 5 with the number 1 representing "not useful" and 5 representing "very useful." Those who used the materials for self-training gave them an average rating of 3.7; those who used them to train others gave them an average rating of 4.0. One person noted that some trainers who used the materials ignored the exercises and made up their own instead. Another respondent who had not used the materials directly, reported that he had made heavy use of them in designing a syllabus for a development organization. He reported that he had gone through both the instructors notes and the student manuals and found the coverage to be wide enough and the approach to be very interactive.

#### Positive and negative features

The respondents were asked to indicate what they thought were the best and worst part of the materials. The things that were liked were the inclusion of exercises and evaluation sheets to gather feedback. The format was also praised, as was its attention to gender issues and the provision of information on how to prepare for a training workshop. The clarity and smooth progression from topic to topic were considered to be well thought out and to be good for both students and teachers. In this regard, the materials were judged to match the learning curve of the participants and to allow them to proceed at a comfortable pace.

The criticisms of the materials were limited and were really requests for broader access because the materials were only available in English. One person had translated them for use in Spanish, but this had taken a long time to do and to prepare a course based on them. Another hoped they would soon be produced in Spanish and French. Another noted that for the training she was undertaking, participants from remote locations took notes in the local language, and ideally the training materials would also be available in their language.

One person suggested that training materials are needed that focus on the development of an information campaign. In other words, how do you develop a comprehensive communication plan or strategy using the new ICTs. Once you have designed the strategy and identified the target audiences, then you can teach the participants how to use the specific tools they need to accomplish their communications objectives. Another suggestion was that the manuals include a component that indicates how to measure the impact of implementing a campaign based on ICTs. Finally, it was suggested that the manuals can be a little difficult to recompile for individual use, and it was suggested that each new topic start at the top of a page.

#### Need for additional materials

There was unanimous agreement among the respondents that there was a continuing need for such ITrain materials. It was noted that these materials were unique in their approach, and that it was important that they were available for free on the Internet. These factors made the training resources accessible to interested organizations and allowed them to teach themselves about Internet technologies at a very low cost. The fact that the materials provided trainers with information on how to conduct training sessions was considered to be important, particularly because some people have the technical knowledge but need help to be able to organize this information and disseminate it effectively. The ITrain materials were thought to bridge this gap, and give both the students and the teachers a sense of direction when they are using the materials.

Asked if they had anything else to add, respondents encouraged further work on the materials and several took the chance to suggest other topics for the series, such as: Windows 98; the new versions of Internet Explorer and Netscape; the suite of Microsoft Internet products; and hardware upgrades. It was suggested that there was a need in the training materials to give both the pros and cons of various options. For example, in the module on email solutions the training materials should point out cases in which various solutions might be most applicable. Often, it was suggested, lack of knowledge of existing products can lead researchers to make the wrong decisions. Hardware choices were also an area where this person thought more information could be given. For example, information on various kinds of modems and processors and their differences in terms of performance could be highlighted. It was also noted that it was useful to focus on software that could be downloaded for free, such as Eudora and Netscape. Others indicated their intention of continuing to use and adapt the materials for training they were planning, and commented that the materials were conceptually sound, thorough, and well presented.

•

# Discussion

This section is organized on the basis of the terms of reference under which the study was completed (see Appendix 4).

# Unganisha's Reach and Effectiveness Within the Centre's Research Community

#### **Connectivity assessment**

It is difficult to confirm how many researchers the Unganisha project provided assistance to on the basis of the data collected in this study. Not all project or program staff who were contacted replied to the questionnaire. In addition, project recipients who had supposedly received support reported that they had not received support from Unganisha. IDRC project officers also were often unsure whether, and to what extent, their projects had received support. However, according to Unganisha's records 181 IDRC projects have benefitted from some direct form of support from Unganisha during the life of the project. This includes projects where some form of financial support was committed on their behalf, whether in help desks, training, subsidies, or other form of support. It does not include projects that received technical advice only.

#### Support received

The project recipients who participated in this study most often received support from Unganisha in the form of subsidies for Internet and email access. This was followed by technical advice, training, assistance from help desks, and receipt of services from Unganisha. None of the respondents selected publications as the form of assistance they received, although two people mentioned printed material in connection with training.

Project staff gave consistently high ratings of how well Unganisha's support had allowed them to access research information, disseminate research results, and collaborate and network. However, an equal number of respondents indicated that these uses of the information and communication tools they now had were "not applicable." This may indicate that many of the recipients are limited either in access (or experience) to email and have not yet explored more "collaborative" uses of their connectivity. More work may be required by IDRC to help and encourage project staff to explore additional uses of the technologies they now have access to.

#### Changes due to Unganisha support

Unganisha's support was credited for such things as enhancing connectivity among a network of NGOs in Eastern Africa; improving communication between recipients and IDRC as well as other international organizations; and improving communication and coordination with a secretariat. As a result, project staff reported that network members could now consult on issues, access research information, seek further information on technology, better market their institutions, and extend the reach of their network to outside organizations and individuals.

#### **Response to needs**

More than 80% of the respondents felt that Unganisha had responded appropriately to their connectivity needs. Credit was given to Unganisha staff, who were reported to be very supportive and willing to work with project recipients to find the best and most appropriate solutions to the problems they faced. The support was as well very timely and allowed institutions to gain access to the Internet and create websites.

#### Success and failures

Respondents were very positive about the project. In addition to indicating that the establishment of physical connections and training had worked well, respondents pointed out that it was important that the project had been quick to respond appropriately to their needs and was a very useful source of informed advice and opinion. The ITrain materials were also considered to be very useful because they were made available for free and provided a broad overview of the Internet and allowed trainers to focus on local needs.

The most common concern was that the project could have made additional resources available. In addition, project staff suggested that training should include how to access research information and establish collaboration and contacts with other researchers. Some project personnel who received support suggested that they might have been better informed about the support that was available to them through the project. Five of the seven project staff who said they had not received support from Unganisha reported that they either did not know what services were provided or were unaware of Unganisha.

#### Effect of terminating project

More than 90% of the respondents felt that they would continue to need the type of support offered by Unganisha. However, only a few felt that this support would have to take the form of subsidies for connections (the most commonly reported form of assistance to date). The majority of project staff feel that the assistance they need now is related to making better use of the facilities they now have. This assistance includes technical advice and constructive feedback on websites, training in how to access information, manage networks, produce publications, improve cooperation and communication with others, produce training materials, and manage electronic conferences.

### Unganisha's Reach and Effectiveness Within the Centre

#### Support to program staff

Just as in the case of project staff, the data that could be collected in this study make it impossible to quantify the number of IDRC staff who received support from Unganisha. Although questionnaires were sent to all program staff who were not being interviewed, only 22 of 64 replied. Of this sample of staff, half reported they had received support either for themselves or their projects. Support was about equally divided between internal IDRC assistance and project assistance.

Input from both the interviews and the questionnaires indicates that technical advice was the most common form of support received from Unganisha. This was followed by subsidies for Internet and email access, and training. Assistance in the form of input from help desks and specific services provided by Unganisha were the next most common. Publications were mentioned least often.

Unganisha has had a clear impact on the way that IDRC staff communicate. By helping establish basic connectivity, program staff reported that it is now much easier to communicate with project staff and to exchange reports and other correspondence. They suggested that initially this may have been given more importance by IDRC, but that project staff have grown to appreciate this new tool and look forward to making greater use of it.

IDRC staff also pointed to the benefits they now received from having access to email while they travel and recognized the value of the experimentation that Unganisha had undertaken with regard to IPass. Program Officers have also started to make greater use of listservs to share information among themselves and also with project staff and representatives of other donor organizations. These listservs have been established in Ottawa and Regional Offices. Electronic conferences have also become more common and are being used by some program staff for discussions. Websites have also been created with assistance from Unganisha and used both to publicize projects and to share information among network members. In at least one case, a website is being used as a vehicle to collect research data.

Program staff also point to the creation of the Intranet at IDRC and the major contribution made by Unganisha. This has changed the way that information is circulated and made available throughout the Centre. The Intranet is being used to post administrative information, staff news, and increasingly will be looked at as a way to increase dialogue and input on program issues with Regional Offices.

Unganisha has responded to the information and communication needs of program staff in at least two ways. First, Unganisha is seen as providing an essential research or experimentation function that is needed within IDRC. Staff do not see this occurring anywhere else in the Centre and attribute the introduction of IPass, listservs, and software such as Cold Fusion and Inside-Out, to the fact that Unganisha was in the Programs Branch and had the "freedom" to undertake trials. Program officers also suggested that it was important that Unganisha was taking the lead in looking ahead to the use of smaller computers for use during official travel and testing video conferencing. Second, Unganisha has provided essential advice and assistance with regard to existing technologies and software and how they can be used. Program staff who lack sufficient expertise depend on Unganisha for advice for themselves and their projects. They do not feel they have the needed expertise themselves to advise project staff on hardware or software choices, and often feel they need assistance as well to identify local consultants who can assist projects.

As the Unganisha project winds down, there is some difference of opinion among staff as to what effect this will have. Program officers who have expertise and experience in information and communications believe that connectivity issues are largely taking care of themselves throughout the developing world. Less technically oriented staff tend to feel that there will continue to be a need to help some institutions establish connectivity, and they are concerned about where such advice will come from in future. Beyond basic connectivity, staff believe there is a role for IDRC to inform institutions about new technology developments, facilitate the creation and maintenance of listservs, and support training. They also see a need for IDRC to maintain contacts with other donors to enhance collaboration and develop a roster of local consultants who can be called on to provide

advice. They place a high value on having this kind of consultation service "in-house." The helpdesk concept was thought to be a good idea in principle, but one that requires refinement.

Beyond the advice that is provided to staff and projects, Unganisha has developed a reputation for undertaking tests of potentially useful hardware and software. This is an area that Centre staff think has been very useful and would like to see continue in some way. This forward-looking function is considered important because it helps introduce new ideas to the Centre. As the Centre and its recipients embrace networking, staff believe that IDRC must maintain a close eye on developments on the technology and related software that will facilitate such "group work." In particular, staff anticipate that there will be rapid expansion in the tools that will be available for such collaborative work using both the Internet and the Intranet. To evolve its own use of these tools, as well as advise and assist recipients, IDRC needs to be current and knowledgeable. Unganisha is seen as the source of such input now, and staff wonder how this will be provided in future.

#### **Support to Program Initiatives**

It is difficult to separate the impact that Unganisha has had on individual staff from the impact it has had in Program Initiatives. Unganisha has catalyzed the introduction of email, listservs, and the use of websites as ways to enhance collaboration and communication within PIs and between PIs and the projects they support. Program officers reported that they benefitted from more frequent and easier communication with project staff and from the easy exchange of reports and other project documents. In some cases, email had allowed members of networks to jointly write papers and other research reports much more easily and quickly as well as coordinate the planning of network activities such as workshops. PIs that have adopted these ways of working look forward to making even greater use of them in the future. Staff that were interviewed suggested that such communication methods where now considered routine and part of the way that program officers and PIs now conduct business.

#### Support of Centre management

Unganisha has made a significant (but originally unplanned) contribution to the Centre by taking the lead in the creation of the Intranet. In essence, 6 months of Unganisha staff time were used to facilitate creation of the Intranet. This special project was designed to provide senior management with the information they require for decision-making. Staff who were interviewed believe that this has been a major step forward for IDRC and noted that for the first time the open program meeting was open to everyone not just program staff.

Concerns were expressed about how to make the Intranet an effective tool for communication. Staff suggested that someone was needed to take the lead in making this work. As well, there is a need to ensure that such documents as trip reports, travel plans, information on workshops, and project information memoranda, are posted in a way that makes the information easily accessible. Management priorities include the need to engage Regional Office staff, and in particular Regional Directors, in policy and program discussions and decisions. For this to be effective all staff require easy and rapid access to the same information. Organized electronic discussions have been used to float ideas and gather reaction, but it has often been hard to get dialogue established. A future priority for Centre management will be a reserved space for electronic discussion among the newly created Program Committee, which will constitute about 18 people.

#### **Collaboration with other Centre groups**

Unganisha has had varying levels of interaction with different groups that are involved with information and communication activities within the Centre. Perhaps the most significant for the Centre has been the collaboration that has occurred with MIS. Unganisha has provided something that MIS was not able to do — undertake research into evolving trends and technologies. MIS does not do this type of research as it is outside its mandate and MIS staff have little developing country experience. As a result, Unganisha has filled a void for IDRC and has been able to push for innovation. This research function was welcomed by staff both in MIS and other parts of the Centre and has changed how the Centre works (e.g., IPass, Intranet, listservs, and websites). The only concern expressed by MIS is that Unganisha may leave behind a legacy of unsupported hardware and software and that MIS will be expected to support these "non-standard" items in future.

Unganisha has worked with the Internet Working Group to provide advice and institute standards for IDRC's web presence, and reported to the Advisory Committee on Information Management with regard to the development of the Intranet.

There are many common interests shared between Unganisha and Bellanet and as a result a considerable degree of interaction has taken place. This has taken the form of such joint activities as development of a web-to-email server, collaboration on the development of a subset of XML for use by development agencies, and coordination of such things as software purchases by pooling knowledge about available software and its capabilities to meet Centre needs. There is also a common interest in expanding the use of new information and communication tools to facilitate the exchange and delivery of information and enhance collaboration in electronic workspaces.

Collaboration with Acacia and PAN has been somewhat limited, in large part because the staff and recipients are more knowledgeable about ICTs. Reported collaboration with Acacia was limited to occasional identification of local consultants, and Acacia staff indicated that there was no overlap in their mandates (Acacia focusing on research and Unganisha on connectivity) so there is little opportunity for interactions and collaboration. More collaboration took place with PAN. PAN helped with the establishment of a help desk in South Asia, and has recently collaborated with Unganisha in Latin America to help develop local capacity by collaborating in training in such areas as website design and networking. PAN staff also reported that they have interacted with Unganisha staff on an individual level because they have "a development orientation and competence in Internet technology" and have promoted ITrain materials and help desks to recipients. Interactions in Africa have been limited because PAN does not support projects in this geographic area.

#### **ITrain Materials**

These training materials were considered to be an important contribution by those who had seen and used them. However, few people reported that they had actually used them either for self-training or for training others. They were praised because of their developing country orientation, gender sensitivity, thoroughness and range of topics covered, the exercises and evaluation sheets that were included, the guides for trainers, and the fact that they were available for free.

Users would like to see the materials available in French and Spanish. As well, they suggested other topics that should be covered in future manuals: how to design an information campaign based on ICTs, how to evaluate the impact of ICTs, Windows 98, newer versions of Eudora and Netscape, Microsoft Internet products, the choice of various hardware options and the advantages and disadvantages of various choices, cold-fusion technology, and electronic commerce.

It is not clear why the materials were regarded so positively, but were used to such a limited extent. This may be due in part to their newness, and in part to a lack of promotion. Publications were the least often mentioned form of support received from Unganisha. Nonetheless, respondents to the email questionnaire encouraged Unganisha to continue development of such materials.

### **Help Desks**

The help-desk operators who replied to the survey reported that the IDRC recipients they worked with had the most problems with encoding and decoding attachments to email. Hardware-related problems and difficulties in sending and receiving email were the next most common problems. On a scale of 1 to 5 (with one representing "not successful" and 5 "very successful"), these operators rated the success of the help desks at a modest 3.2. Problems were said to relate to the need for closer collaboration with Unganisha, greater attention to contract issues, and a need for more training for help-desk operators.

These help-desk operators suggested a continuing need for such services, especially with respect to problems related to hardware crashes and unreliable local telecommunication systems. One African operator suggested that most routine things should no longer be needed, but that there is a real need to help project recipients by providing advice and assistance related to new innovations because "the average IDRC grantee still has no real understanding of how to effectively use these technologies in their work." Therefore, he said assistance would be needed beyond the challenges related to sustained connectivity and would need to include more advanced training (using ITrain materials).

Several IDRC staff admitted they had limited knowledge of the effectiveness of the help-desk concept, but thought that in principle it was a good idea. It was also suggested that they might be better established at universities or perhaps at training institutions. Others suggested that these entities, if they continue, should be self-supporting commercial activities that should not receive financial assistance from IDRC.

# Conclusions

The Unganisha project has made important contributions to IDRC and the recipients the Centre funds. The project provided support to project recipients in the form of subsidies for Internet connections, technical advice, training, and assistance from help desks. This support was highly valued by recipients because it responded appropriately to their needs and was delivered efficiently and effectively. Unganisha was also seen as a very useful source of informed advice and opinion. The support provided by the project allowed recipients to participate in international discussions and to retrieve and disseminate research information more effectively.

Within IDRC, Unganisha played a pioneering role with respect to the introduction of new methods and tools of communication. These innovations (e.g., the development of the Intranet, the testing and introduction of IPass roaming services, the facilitation of listservs, and the use of computer conferences) were highly valued by Centre staff. As a result, staff have come to look to Unganisha for technical advice on Internet technologies and the use of these technologies to promote improved communication and more collaborative working arrangements both within IDRC and their projects. They are concerned that when the Unganisha project comes to an end they will lose this valuable resource. Regional Office staff, who have more limited access to such advice and assistance, are particularly concerned about how they will be able to advise project recipients. Although funds can be built into projects, they believe there remains a need within the Centre for technical advice and training of the type that was provided by Unganisha.

The location of Unganisha within Programs Branch was crucial to its success. Within the Programs Branch, Unganisha enjoyed the flexibility needed to take risks and had a source of funds not available elsewhere in the Centre for experimentation and innovation. As a result, Unganisha was able to purchase its own server and look into problems related to external access to email, work on the development of web-to-email services, purchase and try out new software packages, and experiment with such things as small computers staff might use while traveling and video conferencing. A Program-Branch location also made it clear that Unganisha had a program role within the Centre.

Although they were located in different parts of the Centre, the relationship between MIS and Unganisha has been positive. There was potential for conflict because Unganisha was pushing for change, but this was handled well by both MIS and Unganisha. MIS retained its traditional support role, and Unganisha undertook research, which it could do because it had discretionary funds. It therefore became the focal point in Programs Branch for informed opinion, advice, expertise, and knowledge. Some concerns do exist in MIS about the legacy that Unganisha might leave behind in terms of "non-standard" hardware and software that MIS may be expected to support in future.

A large part of the success that the project achieved can be attributed to Steve Song. He brought to the project, technical expertise about Internet technologies combined with development experience. His advice was sought both on technical issues and on how the use of ICTs could contribute to the realization of project objectives. Recipients as well as program officers noted that Unganisha staff

listened to people's needs and suggested appropriate solutions, rather than simply pushing a specific technology or software solution.

In spite of its success, Unganisha could have been better publicized both within the Centre and to IDRC's project recipients. A relatively high number of program staff and project leaders know little about Unganisha or what types of assistance it might provide. In the case of recipients, this meant that they were not aware that support from IDRC had come from Unganisha. Even those who know about Unganisha are not necessarily aware of all aspects of the project or its resources. Lack of promotion may also have limited the impact and effectiveness of the ITrain materials and the help desks. Responsibility for this promotion cannot only rest with Unganisha staff, but should be shared by all program staff who want to improve the use of ICTs by their projects and PIs.

The ITrain materials received praise, but to date they have had limited use in training programs. There was support for making these materials available in French and Spanish, and suggestions were made of other topics that should be the subject of future modules. However, before further investments are made, more research would be needed to determine if there is a real need, to understand how the materials have been used to date, and to determine if further revision is needed to make them more effective. ITrain materials will also require greater promotion beyond the electronic world to various training and educational institutions. This promotion would need to involve users, Unganisha staff, IDRC program staff, and other donors who might also find the material useful for their projects.

The concept of help desks was considered to be good, and is an example of Unganisha having the funds to experiment with an idea (in this case one proposed by AfricaLink). Although there have been some problems with the initial implementation, the idea of developing local resources that can provide assistance to project recipients was seen as an idea worth further consideration. ISPs are not likely to be the best host for such activities because future efforts should be oriented to providing guidance and assistance on making decisions about how to use ICTs to solve specific problems rather than focusing on connectivity. In other words, future needs will not so much be for technical connections and wires, but how to use these connections effectively in the context of low-income economies. Program staff look to Unganisha to take leadership in such areas and believe that these local resource centres should provide "mini-Unganisha" support that could help recipients solve specific problems, not simply provide technical connectivity advice.

There is little doubt that basic connectivity and more advanced uses of ICTs will become more common for interactions among IDRC, other donors, and researchers. However, Centre staff suggested that questions must still be resolved with respect to more advanced networking techniques, the use of ICTs to connect researchers to their constituents, and the more complete integration of ICTs into research methods. More than 90% of project recipients also felt that they will continue to need the type of support offered by Unganisha. However, only a few felt that this support would have to take the form of subsidies for connections. The majority of project staff feel that the assistance they need now is related to making better use of the facilities they now have. This assistance would include technical advice and constructive feedback on websites, training in how to access information, manage networks, produce publications, improve cooperation and communication with others, produce training materials, and manage electronic conferences.

These suggestions confirm that most program staff, as well as recipients, have accepted electronic communication as the way they must now work. The introduction of email was considered by program staff as a good entry point for promoting the IDRC philosophy of networking and knowledge sharing in current IDRC projects, but more work remains to help people evolve their thinking with regard to the use of ICTs. This evolution from the use of email, to the dissemination and collection of information using the Internet, to collaborative group work can be quickened by interaction with knowledgeable program staff of the type available through Unganisha.

Centre staff share a concern that IDRC must remain at the forefront of thinking and practice about the use of ICTs for development. They believe that IDRC must be prepared to make investments in staying current so that it is in a position both to work more effectively itself and to provide appropriate advice to its research partners. Unganisha has pushed for innovation within the Centre and has become "a focal point to reflect on issues and problems and an important part of the ferment of thinking in IDRC about ICTs and their use." Staff believe it is very important to retain a focal point for such debate and provide guidance in evolving technologies. For example, as group work becomes more important, the availability of tools for lists and conferences will grow dramatically. IDRC staff expect that increased use of list and conference tools will lead to concerns about filtering of information and acceptable and appropriate behaviour in the use of listservs (the culture of use of the technologies) and look to Unganisha to provide leadership in the experimentation that will be required to determine the suitability of these tools for IDRC and its partners.

There is little question that Unganisha has had a positive impact on how the Centre and its recipients work and has created a niche for itself within the Centre's thinking about the use of ICTs to support development. The Centre must now decide whether to retain this resource within Programs Branch to continue the experimentation and innovation that has helped IDRC support networking among its development partners and improve communication within the Centre.

.

.

# **Appendix 1: Contacts**

#### Anselme Adegbidi

Maitre Assistant CAMES, Université Nationale du Bénin-FSA, BP 04-0887, Cadjejoun, Cotonou, Bénin

**Corn Alele Amai** Project Leader, Natural Chemotherapeutics Research Laboratory, Kampala, Uganda

**Ronald Archer** IDRC Regional Office for Southern Africa, Johannesburg, South Africa

**David Balson** Executive Director, Bellanet International, IDRC, Ottawa, Canada

#### Enis Baris

Executive Director, Research for International Tobacco Control, IDRC, Ottawa, Canada

#### Roberto Bazzani

IDRC Regional Office for Latin America and the Caribbean, Montevideo, Uruguay

Thomas Bisika Research Fellow, Centre for Social Research, PO Box 278, Zomba, Malawi

# David B. Brooks

Research Manager, Programs Branch, IDRC, Ottawa, Canada

#### **Daniel Buckles**

Programs Branch, IDRC, Ottawa, Canada

Simon E. Carter IDRC Regional Office for Latin America and the Caribbean, Montevideo, Uruguay

Robert Charbonneau Manager, Web Coordinating Unit (WCU), IDRC, Ottawa, Canada

Gilles Cliche Programs Branch, IDRC, Ottawa, Canada

Jeff Cochrane AfricaLink Advisor, USAID, 1325 G Street NW, Suite 400, Washington, DC, 20005, USA

#### **Deirdre Considine**

Computer Advisor, International Division, Oxfam Great Britain, 274 Banbury Road, Oxford OX2 7DZ, England

#### **Emmanuel Dabou**

Director General and Internet System Administrator, Spider, Rue 247, No. A8, Bamako, Mali

#### Ngamindra Dahal

Research Associate, Nepal Water Conservation Foundation, GPO Box 2221, Kathmandu, Nepal

#### **Denise Deby**

Programs Branch, IDRC, Ottawa, Canada

#### Karin Delgadillo-Poepsel

Formerly, Coordinator of the Strategic Uses Programme, Association for Progressive Communication, currently, President, ChasquiNet

#### Musa M.A. Dube

Senior Lecturer, Faculty of Agriculture, University of Swaziland, PO Luyengo, Swaziland, Southern Africa

#### **Kazeem Durodoye**

Systems Analyst, Infoweb Limited, PC 14 Ahmed Onibudo Street, Off Adeola Hopewell Street, Victoria Island, PO Box 54777, Falomo, Ikoyi, Lagos, Nigeria

#### **Moussa Fall**

Environnement et développement du tiers-monde (ENDA), 4 & 5 rue Kléber, BP 3370, Dakar, Sénégal

#### Merle D. Faminow

Director, Nagaland Environment Protection and Economic Development Project (NEPED), IDRC Regional Office for South Asia, New Delhi, India

#### **Roger Finan**

Regional Director, IDRC Regional Office for South Asia, New Delhi, India

#### **Martin Finken**

Project Leader, Programme de Développement Municipal — Module Afrique de l'Ouest et Central, 01 BP 3445, Cotonou, Bénin

#### **Gilles Forget**

Programs Branch, IDRC, Ottawa, Canada

#### **Kerry Franchuk**

Office for Central and Eastern Europe Initiatives, IDRC, Ottawa, Canada

38

#### Fukushima Koshin

Alternative Information and Development Centre (AIDC), Information Technology, PO Box 1139, Woodstock 7925, South Africa

#### Lionel Germosén-Robineau

Representative for the Caribbean, ENDA-Caribe, Apartado 3370, Santo Domingo, Dominican Republic

Chusa Gines Programs Branch, IDRC, Ottawa, Canada

Judi Glamb Consultant, The Eddy Services, PO Box 36, Upper Black Eddy, PA 18972, USA

**Ricardo Gomez** Programs Branch, IDRC, Ottawa, Canada

John Graham IDRC Southeast and East Asia Regional Office, Singapore

**Sharon Harper** *Programs Branch, IDRC, Ottawa, Canada* 

**O.B. Hemeng** Director, Crops Research Institute, PO Box 3785, Kumasi, Ghana

**Do Hoai Nam** Director, Vien Kinh Te Hoc Institute of Economics, 27 Tran Xuan Soan, St, Hanoi, Vietnam

**Carole Joling** Director, Research Information Management Service (RIMS), IDRC, Ottawa, Canada

Sunita Kapila IDRC Regional Office for Eastern and Southern Africa, Nairobi, Kenya

**Damas Kapinga** Researcher, Secondary Education, Ministry of Education, Dar-es Salaam, Tanzania

**Promilla Kapur** Director, Integrated Human Development Services Foundation Reg'd, K 37A Green Park, New Delhi 110 016, India

#### Yacine Khelladi

Consultant on Development Projects and Information Technologies, PO Box 109-Z, Zona Colonial, Santo Domingo, Dominican Republic

Jean-Michel Labatut Programs Branch, IDRC, Ottawa, Canada

**Renald Lafond** *Programs Branch, IDRC, Ottawa, Canada* 

**Rohinton Medhora** *Programs Branch, IDRC, Ottawa, Canada* 

Vankatesh Mannar Executive Director, Micronutrient Initiative, IDRC, Ottawa, Canada

#### Wellington R.L. Masamba

Senior Lecturer and Head of Chemistry Department, University of Malawi, Chancellor College, PO Box 280, Zomba, Malawi

# Sarah Masters

Electronic Communications Specialist, La Coordinadora del ONGs del area de la mujer, Calle Santiago 503, Gazcue, Santo Domingo, Dominican Republic

#### Z.A. Mats'ela

Professor of Education, National University of Lesotho (NUL), PO Roma 180, Lesotho, Southern Africa

#### Leela McCullough

Information Director, SatelLife, 30 California Street, Watertown, MA 02472, USA

#### **Daniel Morales-Gomez**

Programs Branch, IDRC, Ottawa, Canada

#### **Geoffrey C. Mrema**

Executive Secretary, The Association for Strengthening Agricultural Research in Eastern and Central Africa (ASARECA), Plot 5, Mpigi Road, PO Box 765, Entebbe, Uganda

#### Nigel Motts

IDRC Regional Office for Southern Africa, Johannesburg, South Africa

# **Ted Murray**

Director, Management Information Services (MIS), IDRC, Ottawa, Canada

#### Charles Musisi

East Africa Help Desk/Uganda OnLine, Park Royal Building, Plot 83/85 Kampala Road, P.O. Box 12510 Kampala, Uganda

#### Luis Navarro

IDRC Regional Office for Eastern and Southern Africa, Nairobi, Kenya

#### Margaret Nyambura Ndung'u

Information and Communication Assistant, Econews Africa, PO Box 76406, Nairobi, Kenya

#### Z. M. Nyiira

Executive Secretary and Chief Executive Officer, Uganda National Council for Science and Technology, Kampala, Uganda

#### Norbert Nziramasanga

Technical Director, Southern Centre For Energy and Environment, 31 Frank Johnson Ave., Harare, Zimbabwe

#### Osita Ogbu

IDRC Regional Office for Eastern and Southern Africa, Nairobi, Kenya

#### **Dorothy Okello**

Department of Electrical Engineering, McGill University, 3480 University Street, Montreal, Quebec H3A 2A7

#### **Caroline Pestieau**

Vice-President, Programs Branch, IDRC, Ottawa, Canada

#### **Thomas Post**

Program Director, Christian Reformed World Relief Committee (CRWRC), PO Box 66490, Nairobi, Kenya

#### Hans Pruim

Industrial Information Officer, United Nations Industrial Development Organization (UNIDO), Vienna International Centre, PO Box 300, A-1400, Vienna, Austria

#### J. Pulane-Lefoka

Chairperson, Lesotho Educational Research Association (LERA), PO Box 1883, Meseru 100, Lesotho

#### Daniel Querol

Director, Güises Montaña Experimental, Apartado 2715, Managua, Nicaragua

#### Eglal Rached

Regional Director, IDRC Regional Office for Middle East and North Africa, Cairo, Egypt

#### **Michael Roberts**

Internet Communications Specialist, Bellanet International, IDRC, Ottawa, Canada

#### Ian Samson

Senior Professional: Electronic Publishing, Human Sciences Research Council, Pretoria, South Africa

#### **Rodney Schmidt**

IDRC Program Coordinator, Vietnam Economic and Environmental Management Program (VEEM) and IDRC Program Advisor, Vietnam

#### **Diery Seck**

IDRC Regional Office for West and Central Africa, Dakar, Senegal

#### **Rachna Shrestha**

Network Assistant, International Centre for Integrated Mountain Development, GPO Box 3226, Kathmandu, Nepal

#### Anju Shrestha

International Centre for Integrated Mountain Development (ICIMOD), GPO Box 3226, Kathmandu, Nepal

#### Daniel N. Sifuna

Professor, Department of Educational Foundations and Chairman, Educational Research Network in Kenya, Department of Educational Foundations, Kenyatta University, PO Box 43844, Nairobi, Kenya

#### **Chris Smart**

Director, Special Initiatives Program, IDRC, Ottawa, Canada

#### **Ola Smith**

Programs Branch, IDRC, Ottawa, Canada

#### **Guido Sohne**

Managing Director, Webstar Internet, PO Box CT 1449, Accra, Ghana

# **Roland Stanbridge**

Director, New Media Laboratory, Dept of Journalism, Rhodes University, Grahamstown 6140, South Africa

#### Jeanne Betsock Stillman

Principal, Strategies for Development, Inc., 166 Edgars Lane, Hastings-on-Hudson, NY 10706, USA

42

Veronica Suarez Programs Branch, IDRC, Ottawa, Canada

Grant Thomas Programs Branch, IDRC, Ottawa, Canada

Scott Tiffin IDRC Regional Office for Latin America and the Caribbean, Montevideo, Uruguay

Mario Torres IDRC Regional Office for Latin America and the Caribbean, Montevideo, Uruguay

# **Oussouby Toure**

Le Centre de Suivi Ecologique pour la Gestion des Ressources Naturelles (CSE), Rue Léon Gontran Damas, Fann Résidence, Boîte Postale 15532, Dakar-Fann, Senegal

Necla Tschirgi Programs Branch, IDRC, Ottawa, Canada

Frank Tulus Programs Branch, IDRC, Ottawa, Canada

# Troung Van Tuyen

Tam Giang Lagoon Project, Hue University of Agriculture and Forestry, 24 Phung Hung, Hue, Vietnam

# **Stephen Tyler**

Programs Branch, IDRC, c/o Sedgewick C189, University of Victoria, PO Box 1700 STN CSC, Victoria, B.C., Canada V8W 2Y2

Robert Valantin Chief Scientist, Programs Branch, IDRC, Ottawa, Canada

# **Carlos A. Vicente**

Centro de Estudios sobre Tecnologías Apropiadas de la Argentina (CETAAR), Casilla de Correo 80, 1727 Marcos Paz, Buenos Aires, Argentina

# Jeannette Vogelaar

UNESCO Sub-Regional Office for Southern Africa, 8 Kénilworth Rd, Newlands P.O. Box HG 435, Newlands, Harare, Zimbabwe

# Zipangani M. Vokhiwa

Deputy Director of Environmental Affairs, Environmental Affairs Department, Private Bag 394, Lilongwe 3, Malawi

#### Shirley A. White

Prof Emeritus, Department of Communications, 303 Kennedy Hall, Cornell University, Ithaca, New York, USA

#### **Olly Willans**

Community Web Project Co-Ordinator, OneWorld Online (olly@oneworld.org)

#### Hans-Dieter Winkens

Executive Editor, Channel Africa, PO Box 91313, Auckland Park 2006, South Africa

# **Appendix 2: Email Questionnaires**

# **Project Leaders**

Dear:

I have been asked to undertake an end-of-project review of the IDRC Unganisha project. The goal of this project was to extend the network of the IDRC's connectivity to the projects it funds. In addition, the project sought to improve collaboration between geographically diverse projects, between program initiatives and program officers, and between different groups within IDRC.

This review is designed to determine: how well the project met the information and communication needs of IDRC recipients; and the relevance of the project to IDRC's own needs. Separate questionnaires are being sent to IDRC grant recipients and to IDRC program staff.

Your views and experiences are an important input to this study. I hope you will help by completing this short questionnaire. It should take you less than 10 minutes to complete. All replies are confidential.

Please return the completed questionnaire to me by 27 April.

Michael Graham mgraham@achilles.net

Thank you for your assistance.

# QUESTIONNAIRE:

Did you receive support from the Unganisha project?

Please place an "x" within the () to indicate your answer.

() Yes ... please answer only the questions in PART A of this survey

() No ... please answer only the questions in PART B of this survey

() Don't know ... please stop here and return the survey

PART A: FOR USERS OF UNGANISHA SERVICES

A1. What type of support did you received from the Unganisha project?

Please place an "x" within the () to indicate your answers.

() Technical advice (e.g., advice on technology selection and implementation)

() Subsidies for Internet/email access (e.g., computer hardware, Internet subscriptions, and telephone subsidies)

() Training (e.g., workshops, one-on-one training, and training resources)

() Help desks (e.g., provision of local support for projects)

() Publications (e.g., From Workplace to Workspace, List Facilitation Guide, and ITrain materials)
() Services (e.g., Web hosting, help with mailing lists, and web to email services)
() Other (please specify)

A2. What did each of the types of support you selected in Question A1 allow you to do?

Technical advice:

Subsidies for Internet/email access:

Training:

Help desks:

Publications:

Services:

Other:

A3. How would you rate the support you received from the Unganisha project in terms of how well it helped you access research information, disseminate research results, and collaborate and network with others? Please provide a brief example.

Please place a number in the () to indicate your rating.

Rate each factor on a scale of 1 to 5, with number 1 representing "not well" and number 5 "very well".

If you did not receive support in a category, please place an "x" beside not applicable.

() Access research information. For example:

() not applicable

() Disseminate research results. For example:

() not applicable

() Collaborate and network. For example:

() not applicable

A4. Did the Unganisha project respond appropriately to your connectivity needs? Please place an "x" within the () to indicate your answer.

() yes

() no

() don't know

Please explain:

A5. What aspects of the Unganisha project do you feel have worked well, and what aspects have not worked well?

Worked well:

Did not work well:

A6. Do you anticipate that you will continue to require services such as those that were provided by the Unganisha project?

Please place an "x" within the () to indicate your answer.

() yes ... please provide more detail below

() no

() don't know

What are these services, and why are they important?

A6. Do you have anything else to add?

Thank you for taking the time to answer this questionnaire.

Michael Graham

PART B: FOR NON-USERS OF UNGANISHA SERVICES

B1. Why did you not use the services of Unganisha?

Please place an "x" within the () to indicate your answer.

- () Not relevant to program needs
- () Did not know what services Unganisha provided
- () Unaware of Unganisha
- () Already had enough knowledge for my needs
- () Other (please specify)

B2. Were there specific types of assistance that you expected to receive from Unganisha, but which were not provided?

Please place an "x" within the () to indicate your answer.

() yes ... please provide more detail below

() no

() don't know

Assistance expected:

B3. Do you have anything else to add?

Thank you for taking the time to answer this questionnaire.

Michael Graham

# **Program Staff**

Dear:

I have been asked to undertake an end-of-project review of the Unganisha project. The goal of Unganisha was to extend the network of the IDRC's connectivity to the projects it funds. The project also sought to improve collaboration between geographically diverse projects, between program initiatives and program officers, and between different groups within IDRC.

This review is designed to determine: how well the project met the information and communication needs of IDRC recipients; and the relevance of the project to IDRC's own needs. Separate questionnaires are being sent to IDRC program staff and to IDRC grant recipients.

Your views and experiences are an important input to this study. I hope you will help by completing this short questionnaire. It should take you less than 10 minutes to complete. All replies are confidential.

Please return the completed questionnaire to me by 27 April.

Michael Graham mgraham@achilles.net

Thank you for your assistance.

# QUESTIONNAIRE:

Did you, or anyone in your projects, receive support from the Unganisha project? Please place an "x" within the () to indicate your answer.

() Yes ... please answer only the questions in PART A of this survey

() No ... please answer only the questions in PART B of this survey

() Don't know ... please stop here and return the survey

PART A: FOR USERS OF UNGANISHA SERVICES

A1. Why did you use the services provided by Unganisha?
Please place an "x" within the () to indicate your answer. Select all answers that are applicable.
() Directly relevant to program needs
() Requested by recipient
() Directed to Unganisha by someone else within IDRC
() Approached by Unganisha
() Other (please specify)

A2. How did you use the services provided by Unganisha?

Please place an "x" within the () to indicate your answer.

O Used directly within IDRC

() Used by one (or more) of my projects

() Used both directly within IDRC and by my projects

() Other (please specify)

A3. If some of your projects received assistance from Unganisha, please provide the names of up to three project leaders or researchers and their email addresses. (They may be contacted to obtain additional information.)

1.

2.

3.

A4. How would you rate the support you received from Unganisha in terms of how well it responded to the information and communication needs of both you and your projects?

Please place a number in the () to indicate your rating.

Rate each factor on a scale of 1 to 5, with number 1 representing "not well" and number 5 "very well".

If you did not receive support in a category, please place an "x" beside not applicable.

Technical advice (e.g., advice on technology selection and implementation)

- () services provided to you
- () services provided to projects
- () not applicable

Subsidies for Internet/email access (e.g., computer hardware, Internet subscriptions, and telephone subsidies)

() services provided to you

- () services provided to projects
- () not applicable

Training (e.g., workshops, one-on-one training, and training resources)

() services provided to you

- () services provided to projects
- () not applicable

Help desks (e.g., provision of local support for projects)

() services provided to you

- () services provided to projects
- () not applicable

Publications (e.g., From Workplace to Workspace, List Facilitation Guide, and ITrain materials) () services provided to you

- O services provided to projects
- () not applicable

Services (e.g., Web hosting, help with mailing lists, and web to email services) () services provided to you () services provided to projects () not applicable

A5. What did the support provided by Unganisha allow you to do?

Technical advice:

Subsidies for Internet/email access:

Training:

Help desks:

Publications:

Services:

A6. Were there specific types of assistance that you expected to receive from Unganisha, but which were not provided?

Please place an "x" within the () to indicate your answer.

() yes ... please provide more detail below
() no
() don't know
Assistance expected:

A7. What aspects of the Unganisha project do you feel have worked well, and what aspects have not worked well? Worked well:

Did not work well:

A8. Do you anticipate that you will continue to require services such as those that were provided by the Unganisha project?Please place an "x" within the () to indicate your answer.() yes ... please provide more detail below() no

() don't know

What are these services, and why are they important?

A9. Do you have anything else to add?

Thank you for taking the time to answer this questionnaire.

Michael Graham

# PART B: FOR NON-USERS OF UNGANISHA SERVICES

B1. Why did you not use the services provided by Unganisha?
Please place an "x" within the () to indicate your answer.
() Not relevant to program needs
() Did not know what services Unganisha provided
() Unaware of Unganisha
() Already had enough knowledge for my needs
() Other (please specify)
B2. Were there specific types of assistance that you expected to respect to the service of the service

B2. Were there specific types of assistance that you expected to receive from Unganisha, but which were not provided?

Please place an "x" within the () to indicate your answer.

() yes ... please provide more detail below

() no

() don't know Assistance expected:

B3. Do you have anything else to add?

Thank you for taking the time to answer this questionnaire.

Michael Graham

# Help Desks

Dear:

I am undertaking an review of the IDRC Unganisha project. Part of the activities of this project involved the establishment of ICT Help Desks to provide connectivity support for IDRC researchers in developing countries.

This brief questionnaire is designed to determine the effectiveness of this approach from the pointof-view of those who implemented the Help Desks.

Your views and experiences are an important input to this study. I hope you will help by completing this short questionnaire. It should take you less than 5 minutes to complete. All replies are confidential.

Please return the completed questionnaire to me by 27 April.

Michael Graham mgraham@achilles.net

Thank you for your assistance.

# QUESTIONNAIRE:

1. Did your organization establish a Help Desk in collaboration with the Unganisha project? Please place an "x" within the () to indicate your answer.

() Yes ... please proceed to question 2

() No ... please stop here and return the survey

2. Which of the following services did you provide as part of the Help Desk?

Please place an "x" within the () to indicate your answer.

() monitored status of connectivity of clients

() solved problems clients encountered

() provided training

() other (please explain)

3. In which of the following areas did clients have the most difficulty?

Please place a number in the () to indicate your how often your clients had difficulty.

Rate each area on a scale of 1 to 5, with number 1 representing "very rarely" and number 5 "very often".

() making connection to Internet Service Provider

() sending or receiving E-mail

() problems encoding or decoding attachments

- () problems accessing information via the Internet
- () hardware-related problems

() other (please explain)

4. In your opinion, how successful have the Help Desks been? Please place a number in the () to indicate the success of the Help Desks. Use the number 1 to represent "not successful" and number 5 "very successful".

() Success of Help Desks

5. What do you think was the biggest problem with the Help Desk?

6. What do you think was the biggest success of the Help Desk?

7. In your opinion, are such services as Help Desks still required for IDRC project recipients? Please place an "x" within the () to indicate your answer.

() yes

() no Please explain:

8. Do you have anything else to add?

Thank you for taking the time to answer this questionnaire.

Michael Graham

# ITrain Users

Dear:

I am undertaking an review of the IDRC Unganisha project. Part of the activities of this project involved the establishment of a collaborative web-based resource of Internet training materials called ITrain (http://unganisha.idrc.ca/itrain/) that included resource aimed at both instructors and students.

This brief questionnaire is designed to determine whether your have used these training materials and how useful they might have been to you.

Your views and experiences are an important input to this study. I hope you will help by completing this short questionnaire. It should take you less than 5 minutes to complete. All replies are confidential.

Please return the completed questionnaire to me by 27 April.

Michael Graham mgraham@achilles.net

Thank you for your assistance.

QUESTIONNAIRE:

1. Have you heard of the ITrain materials and methodology?

Please place an "x" within the () to indicate your answer.

() Yes ... please proceed to question 2

() No ... please stop here and return the survey

2. Have you used the ITrain material for training?

Please place an "x" within the () to indicate your answer.

() Yes ... please answer second part of this question

() No

If you answered yes, how did you use the material?

() For self-directed training (for your own use)

() For training others

() Other (please specify):

3. If you used the ITrain training materials, how useful were they for the training you were undertaking?

Please place a number in the () to indicate your rating.

Rate each factor on a scale of 1 to 5, with number 1 representing "not useful" and number 5 "very useful".

() For self-directed training

() For training others

54

() Other (please specify):

4. If you used the ITrain training materials, what do you think were the best and worst things about these materials?

Best thing:

Worst thing:

5. Do you think that there is a continuing need for such ITrain materials? Please place an "x" within the () to indicate your answer.() yes() noWhy, Why not?

6. Do you have anything else to add?

Thank you for taking the time to answer this questionnaire.

Michael Graham

.

# **Appendix 3. Interview Guides**

# Detailed

Name: Title:

# INTRODUCTION:

I am undertaking an end-of-project review of the Unganisha project, which was designed both to extend the network of the IDRC's connectivity to the projects it funds and to improve collaboration between geographically diverse projects, between program initiatives and program officers, and between different groups within IDRC.

The review is designed to determine: how well the project met the information and communication needs of IDRC recipients; and the relevance of the project to IDRC's own needs. Questionnaires are being sent to IDRC grant recipients as well.

Questionnaires are being sent to IDRC grant recipients a

# GENERAL:

1. How did you first learn about Unganisha?

- 2. How did you first make contact with Unganisha?
- () I was directly approached by Unganisha staff
- () I approached Unganisha staff to ask for help

# **PROVISION OF SUPPORT:**

Unganisha has provided several types of support. For each type of support the project has made available, I would like to know whether you have received this type of support, what this support has allowed you or your projects, Secretariat, PI etc. to do, and how you would rate the usefulness of this support.

# 3. Technical Advice:

Did you (or your projects, Secretariat, PI etc.) receive Technical Advice (e.g., advice on technology selection and implementation) from Unganisha?

() yes

() no

() don't know

How would you rate the usefulness of this support on a scale of 1 to 5, with 1 representing "not useful" and 5 "very useful".

- Provided to you usefulness:
- Provided to projects, Secretariat, PI etc. usefulness:

Can you please provide examples of what this support allowed you or your projects, Secretariat, PI etc. to do, or to do better.

- Individual
- Projects, Secretariat, PI etc.

# 4. Subsidies for Internet/email access

Did you (or your projects, Secretariat, PI etc.) receive subsidies for Internet/email access from Unganisha?

() yes

() no

() don't know

How would you rate the usefulness of this support on a scale of 1 to 5, with 1 representing "not useful" and 5 "very useful".

- Provided to you usefulness:
- Provided to projects, Secretariat, PI etc. usefulness:

Can you please provide examples of what this support allowed you or your projects, Secretariat, PI etc. to do, or to do better.

- ► Individual
- Projects, Secretariat, PI etc.

# 5. Training

Did you (or your projects, Secretariat, PI etc.) receive training from Unganisha??

() yes

() no

() don't know

How would you rate the usefulness of this support on a scale of 1 to 5, with 1 representing "not useful" and 5 "very useful".

• Provided to you — usefulness:

Provided to projects, Secretariat, PI etc. — usefulness:

Can you please provide examples of what this support allowed you or your projects, Secretariat, PI etc. to do, or to do better.

Individual

• Projects, Secretariat, PI etc.

# 6. Help Desks

Did you (or your projects, Secretariat, PI etc.) receive support though help desks (e.g., provision of local support for projects) from Unganisha? ?

() yes

() no

Unganisha: Results and Effectiveness

58

() don't know

How would you rate the usefulness of this support on a scale of 1 to 5, with 1 representing "not useful" and 5 "very useful".

- Provided to you usefulness:
- Provided to projects, Secretariat, PI etc. usefulness:

Can you please provide examples of what this support allowed you or your projects, Secretariat, PI etc. to do, or to do better.

- Individual
- Projects, Secretariat, PI etc. Help desks (e.g., provision of local support for projects)

# 7. Publications

Did you (or your projects, Secretariat, PI etc.) receive publications (e.g., From Workplace to Workspace, and ITrain materials) from Unganisha? ?

() yes

() no

() don't know

How would you rate the usefulness of this support on a scale of 1 to 5, with 1 representing "not useful" and 5 "very useful".

- Provided to you usefulness:
- Provided to projects, Secretariat, PI etc. usefulness:

Can you please provide examples of what this support allowed you or your projects, Secretariat, PI etc. to do, or to do better.

- Individual
- Projects, Secretariat, PI etc. Help desks (e.g., provision of local support for projects)

# 8. Services

Did you (or your projects, Secretariat, PI etc.) receive specific services (e.g., Web hosting, help with mailing lists, and web to email services) from Unganisha? ?

() yes

() no

() don't know

How would you rate the usefulness of this support on a scale of 1 to 5, with 1 representing "not useful" and 5 "very useful".

- Provided to you usefulness:
- Provided to projects, Secretariat, PI etc. usefulness:

Can you please provide examples of what this support allowed you or your projects, Secretariat, PI etc. to do, or to do better.

- Individual
- Projects, Secretariat, PI etc. Help desks (e.g., provision of local support for projects)

9. In your opinion, is the type of support being offered by Unganisha still needed within IDRC or within the projects, secretariats, PIs etc the Centre supports?
IDRC ()Yes
()No
()Don't know
Why? Why not?

Projects, Secretariat, PI etc. ()Yes ()No ()Don't know Why? Why not?

10. What aspects of the Unganisha project do you feel have worked well, and what aspects have not worked well in IDRC and in projects, secretariats, PIs etc?

#### IDRC

Worked well: Did not work well:

#### Projects, Secretariat, PI etc.

Worked well: Did not work well:

11. If Unganisha-type activities where to be supported in future, where should the priorities be placed? (Ask to rank suggestions in order of importance.)

# **IDRC:**

# Projects, Secretariat, PI etc.

12. Is there anything else you would like to add?

# General

Name:

Title:

# INTRODUCTION:

I am undertaking an end-of-project review of the Unganisha project, which was designed both to extend the network of the IDRC's connectivity to the projects it funds and to improve collaboration between geographically diverse projects, between program initiatives and program officers, and between different groups within IDRC.

The review is designed to determine: how well the project met the information and communication needs of IDRC recipients; and the relevance of the project to IDRC's own needs. Questionnaires are being sent to IDRC grant recipients as well.

1. What sort of interactions have you had with Unganisha?

2. Unganisha was to have had an impact both within IDRC (among PIs) and externally with recipients. How effective has it been? What still needed? Internally: Externally:

3. What is the relationship between Bellanet/ACIM/Acacia etc and Unganisha?

4. How have Unganisha and Bellanet/ACIM/Acacia etc worked together?

5. In your opinion, is the type of support offered by Unganisha still needed? In Projects? Within IDRC?

6. What aspects of Unganisha have worked well/not well?Well:Not Well

7. If Unganisha-type activities are supported in future, where should the priorities lie?

8. Do you have anything else to add?

•

.

# Appendix 4. Terms of Reference

The objective of the evaluation is two-fold: (i) to examine the effectiveness of the Unganisha project in meeting its objective of enhancing the electronic communication and networking capacity of Centre-supported recipients and partner institutions in developing countries; and (ii) to examine its relevance within the Centre.

In the context of a general evaluation of the Unganisha project, the consultant will address the following questions:

# 1. Unganisha's reach and effectiveness within the Centre's research community

Through review of project documents, questionnaires, and possibly interviews with selected Unganisha-supported researchers in Africa, the following specific issues will be examined:

- a. Connectivity Assessment
  - i How many researchers did the Unganisha project provide assistance to? What gaps exist?
- b. What kind of support did the Centre researchers receive from the Unganisha project? How did the support break down between connectivity subsidies, capacity building/ training, and support/ helpdesks?
- c. Have there been any noticeable changes for researchers as a result of the Unganisha support, specifically with regard to:
  - i Access to research information i.e., how has Unganisha support contributed to (or expected to contribute to) enhancing researchers' access to relevant information?
  - ii Dissemination of research results i.e., how has Unganisha support impacted (or expected to impact) on the capacity of researchers to promote their research?
  - iii Collaboration/networking i.e., what difference did the Unganisha support make (or is expected to make) in the frequency and content of communication with the Centre, with other researchers, and/or with other funding agencies and like-minded individuals?
- d. To what extent has the Unganisha project responded to the needs of researchers with respect to using information and communication technologies to enhance communication/networking?
- e. What has worked, what hasn't? Why?
- f. How will the termination of the project affect the Centre researchers currently supported by the Unganisha project?
- g. What recommendations for enhancing the effectiveness of the Unganisha project and for ensuring the sustainability of its work?

# 2. Unganisha's reach and relevance within the Centre

Through review of project documents, questionnaires sent to the Centre program staff, and interviews with selected program staff, Management, and Unganisha partners, the following specific issues will be examined:

- a. The Centre Programme Staff
  - i How many programme staff received support from the Unganisha project? What kind of support? [Staff should identify support both to themselves and on behalf of their projects selecting one or more of the six categories from the Unganisha activities page. (http://www.idrc. ca/unganisha/activities.html)]
  - ii Has the Unganisha project changed the way program staff communicates? How?
  - iii Has the Unganisha project responded to the information and communications technology needs of programme staff?
  - iv What has worked, what hasn't? Why?
  - v How will the termination of the Unganisha project affect The Centre program staff?
  - vi Recommendations to enhance effectiveness of the project and ensure sustainability of its work.
- b. Programme Initiatives (PIs)
  - i To what extent has the Unganisha project enhanced the effectiveness of PIs? In what ways?
- c. Centre Management
  - i Has the Unganisha project affected the general flow of information within the Centre? In what ways?
- d. Unganisha Partners
  - i To what extent has the Unganisha project collaborated with these groups and what has the impact of the collaboration been.
  - ii MIS
  - iii Internet Working Group
  - iv Bellanet
  - v Acacia
  - vi PAN